
SCRUTINY : SOCIAL SERVICES
3.00 pm TUESDAY, 4TH DECEMBER, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER

A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 2.30 pm.  
This meeting is for Committee Members only 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 

possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 
(VVC) Annual Report for 1 April 2017 to 31 March 
2018 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

5 - 32

4. Cwm Taff Integrated Family Support Team annual 
report 2017-2018 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

33 - 60

5. Adult Social Care Strategies 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

61 - 66

6. Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2018/19 
To consider the attached report 67 - 80

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 
To receive an update from the Chair



8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

9. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors:  W R Smith (Chair)
                     S Jago (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: G Richards, T Rogers, D Sammon and 
I Thomas

Co-optees: M Elford and B Lewis

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 
Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 
(VVC) Annual Report for 1 April 2017 to 31 March 
2018 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The VVC Adoption Annual Report which is attached provides information about the 

business of the Regional Adoption Service during 2017-18.  
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Committee. That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the 

issues set out in the attached report, and identifies any further information it would 
like to receive 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC) is the largest of the five 

regional collaboratives which form part of the National Adoption Service in Wales 
(NAS).  It provides a regional adoption service to the Vale of Glamorgan Council, 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Cardiff Council and Rhondda Cynon Taff 
County Borough Council.  The service is hosted by the Vale of Glamorgan Council. 

 
3.2  The service functions include: 
 

 Recruitment and Assessment of Adopters 

 Adoption Panel  

 Family Finding 

 Adoption Support 

Date Written November 2018 

Report Author Annabel Lloyd  

Service Area Children’s Services 

Committee Date 4th December 2018 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 
 
4.1 During the year, the regional adoption service has responded to our high demand of 

business as usual (performance is summarised in the report); and moved office 
base.  There has also been a Best Value Review and the attached report sets out 
the context of that review and its recommendations which are aimed at improving 
process and increasing capacity, especially in relation to the recruitment of new 
adopters which is a key challenge. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 The Regional Adoption Management Board meets monthly and receives updates in 

relation to the work of the business plan, performance reporting the budget and other 
challenges and developments.  The Portfolio Councillor for Social Services is a 
member of the Regional Adoption Committee that meets bi-annually and approves 
the budget for the Regional Adoption Collaborative. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 We are making plans for all Merthyr Tydfil looked after young people to achieve safe 

and successful lives and our commitment to the Adoption Service is key to that 
objective for children with a plan for adoption. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Merthyr Tydfil Children’s Services will continue to support the developing work of the 

Regional Adoption Collaborative in pursuit of ensuring successful permanent 
outcomes for younger looked after children with a plan for adoption.  

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 This area of business and the Council’s offer to care leavers under Hidden Ambitions 

is located in the following wellbeing objective: 
 

People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they 
are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.   

 
 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES  
CABINET MEMBER FOR                

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 Scrutiny Report 2016-17  
 

 December 2017 Council website and Civic Offices. 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  

No 

 
Page 6



1 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

         Appendix 1 

VALE, VALLEYS AND CARDIFF ADOPTION COLLABORATIVE (VVC) 

ANNUAL REPORT FOR 1 APRIL 2017 TO 31 MARCH 2018 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC) is the largest of the five 

regional collaboratives which form part of the National Adoption Service in Wales 

(NAS).  It provides a regional adoption service to the Vale of Glamorgan Council, 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Cardiff Council and Rhondda Cynon Taff 

County Borough Council. The service is hosted by the Vale of Glamorgan Council. 

1.2 This is VVC’s third annual report and covers the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 

2018. The Collaborative is required to review the service it provides by regulation 

and as part of the reporting requirements set out in the legal agreement 

underpinning the operation of the Collaborative.  This report seeks to combine the 

various reporting requirements in one report.  

Appendix A to the report sets out key performance data by quarter and local 

authority. 

2. SERVICE DEVELOPMENT AND GOVERNANCE 

2.1 There has been no change to the managerial structure of the service during the 

period and the service continues to be managed by a Regional Adoption Manager 

and three service specific managers for Family Finding, Adoption Support, and 

Recruitment and Assessment. The Family Finding Manager went on maternity leave 

in January 2018 but the post has been covered by an interim acting up arrangement 

within the service. The Adoption Support Manager’s post has been made a 

permanent full time position as a result of the Best Value Review. 

2.2 There have been some changes to the staff team during the year due to a part 

time Business Support Officer leaving the service to obtain a full time position, two 

part time Social Workers retiring, one Social Worker who was employed for 30 hours 

moving out of the area and two Social Workers going on maternity leave.  The loss 

of these part time posts has enabled some reconfiguration of these posts to full time 

positions.  The service has continued to receive a high number of applicants for the 

vacancies which have arisen and also has had success in filling temporary positions. 

Some short term agency cover has also been put in place to cover gaps. 

2.3 As outlined in the last report and due to the increased demands being placed 
upon the Collaborative, the Directors of the partner authorities commissioned a Best 
Value Review of the service in December 2016. The review was undertaken by an 
Officer from the Vale of Glamorgan Business Improvement Team and Finance 

Page 7



2 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

Officer from Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. The analysis for the review was 
undertaken between January and September 2017.  A draft report was presented to 
members of the Management Board during the autumn of 2017, prior to the report 
being agreed by the Directors and Joint Committee in December 2017.  
 
2.4 The review was comprehensive and sought engagement from a range of staff 
both within VVC and also from our local authority partners. Consultation also took 
place with key stakeholders, members of the Management Board and 
representatives from the NAS central team.  The review considered a range of 
aspects from the current service delivery model, the level of demand being placed 
upon the service, staffing arrangements, the governance of the region and funding. 
 
2.5 The principal recommendations of the review were as follows: 
 
 a) Finalise completion of the digital Adoption Panel process to streamline processes 
and improve efficiency. 
 
 b) Establish an Operational Group of VVC and local authority managers to progress 
service improvement and development work within the region. 
 
c) Increase regional staff resources within Adoption Support by securing the full time 
permanent appointment of the Adoption Support Manager and also the additional 
post covering Letterbox and Access to Birth Records.  
 
d) In order to meet the emerging need to recruit more adopters, the review also 
recommended the appointment of a Marketing and Recruitment Co-ordinator on a 
two year fixed term basis and two Social Workers in Recruitment and Assessment, 
one to be appointed initially and a further one should adopter applications increase. 
 
e) Formal review of the Legal Agreement to be undertaken to include twice yearly 
meetings of the Directors and the Management Board, changes to the frequency of 
Management Board meetings to quarterly and establishment of an Operational 
Group as part of the overall governance of the region. 
 
d) Update and consider revision of the existing funding formula for the service and 
keep it under review. 
 
2.6 An Action Plan has been developed and agreed to take forward the actions 
arising from the review. 
 
2.7 VVC has continued to operate from Ty Pennant, Pontypridd during this time but 
due to the licence to occupy the premises expiring in September 2018, a trawl of 
alternative accommodation options was undertaken in the latter part of 2017 which 
included partner authorities and commercial options. The available commercial 
options were financially prohibitive and the partner authorities provided a nil return 
with the exception of the Vale of Glamorgan. It was therefore agreed that the service 
would relocate to the Dock Office in Barry during August 2018 prior to the cessation 
of the licence and following completion of some remedial work to the new premises. 
It was felt that this would also allow for consultation re any HR issues and for any 

Page 8



3 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

other matters affecting staff to be considered.  The service moved to their new base 
on 10 September 2018. 
 
2.8 The budget for the Collaborative is managed by the Vale of Glamorgan and is 
monitored closely by the Management Board and Joint Committee.  The end of year 
position reported a slight overspend in the budget for 2017-18 created by some 
additional and unexpected costs for cleaning services at Ty Pennant which were 
received at year end. The Collaborative receives an annual internal audit undertaken 
by Bridgend and Vale Audit Shared Service. The audit undertaken for 2017-18 found 
‘substantial assurance’ in respect of the management of risks within the service.  The 
Best Value recommendation to review the funding formula has been taken forward 
by the Finance Technical Group comprised of Finance Officers from the four 
authorities. It was agreed that funding arrangements would remain unchanged for 
2017-18 but further work would be undertaken in 2018-19 to consider options for 
future funding of the Collaborative. 
 
 2.9. The Management Board has continued to meet bi-monthly during this period. 

Board meetings have continued to be well represented and supported by Heads of 

Service from the partner authorities and wider membership. The representative from 

the Voluntary Adoption Agency, St David’s has changed to their Director of 

Operations and the Chair of the Management Board transferred to the Director of 

Social Services for RCT in July 2017. 

2.10 The Management Board has played a key role in monitoring the progress of the 

Best Value Review to address improvements in service delivery. It has also 

continued to regularly monitor the overall performance of the region highlighting 

areas for improvement and potential solutions.  To support the Management Board 

in monitoring the key elements of the performance framework, it has agreed the key 

performance data it wishes to receive on a regular basis which is attached at 

Appendix A. 

2.11 The performance of the regional service has continued to be monitored via the 

NAS Performance Framework.  The range of measures has increased each year 

which has required more comprehensive recording mechanisms to be put in place to 

capture this data. VVC has fully complied with all reporting requirements. 

2.12 The Director of Operations for NAS attended the VVC Management Board in 

May 2018 to present the NAS End of Year Report for 2017-18 in respect of VVC’s 

performance.  Some of the headlines from this report are covered later. 

2.13 The Joint Committee met in June and December 2017.  The Joint Committee is 

comprised of elected Members from each of the authorities although the individual 

Members changed in May 2017 following the local elections.  The Joint Committee 

approved the annual accounts for the Collaborative, the annual budget and plan and 

the Best Value Review.  

 

Page 9



4 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

 

 

3. SERVICE FUNCTIONS 

3.1 VVC’s Annual Work Plan has focused actions around the ongoing priorities set 

by NAS to improve adoption support and to place children and recruit adopters more 

effectively.  Progress in meeting these priorities and developments to enhance 

service delivery are outlined under each of the service areas. 

4. FAMILY FINDING 

4.1 As previously indicated VVC is the largest of the regional collaboratives with the 

largest children looked after population.  This context was acknowledged in the NAS 

End of Year Report for 2017-18 which states ‘one of the implications of the size of 

VVC is that it represents a correspondingly large proportion of the overall demand 

across the spectrum of adoption services that local government and partners are 

required to provide’.  In terms of family finding activity this represents a large area of 

work for the region and one that has increased since VVC’s inception. The NAS 

report indicates that regionally VVC worked with about 15% of the children looked 

after within the region during this period. 

4.2 The number of children referred for adoption totalled 244 which has fallen slightly 

on the previous year, although this represents the highest in Wales.  86 children 

were placed for adoption during the year, a 6% increase on the previous year. A new 

measure introduced in 2017-18 requires regions to report on the location of 

placements.  During the reporting period, 51 children out of the 86 were placed 

within the region.  23% of the placements made were for children in sibling groups 

which represents an increasing trend. 

 4.3 At the end of the year there were 138 children who had a ‘should be placed’ for 

adoption decision but had not been placed for adoption which is significant increase 

on previous returns. 117 of these children were subject of a Placement Order.  This 

figure has been used to project the number of adoptive placements required by the 

region to meet its’ needs.  However out of this total, 16 children were on hold 

pending a change of Care Plan, 34 children had active links, 10 of which were 

proceeding to matching, and the region was at year end actively recruiting for 67 

children. 

4.4 The region has recorded 102 Placement Orders being made during the year 

which also represents a slight decrease although the number of Adoption Orders has 

increased to 71.  

4.5 The measure in relation to the timeliness of the process from becoming  looked 

after to being placed for adoption  indicates that on average children were placed 

within 13.6 months which the NAS report indicates is ‘close to the benchmark of 13 

Page 10



5 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

months or less and one of the better averages amongst the NAS regions’.  The NAS 

report also highlights that the VVC average of 7.7 months from Placement Order ‘is 

a significant improvement from last year; it is better than the national average 

although the benchmark is 6 months or less’.  Regrettably of all the placements 

made during the year, 60 children had waited longer than six months to be placed 

which is higher than the previous year but is indicative of the challenges faced in 

placing children with complex and additional needs. 

4.6 The level of placement breakdown remains relatively low with 3 placement 

disruptions during the year, one of these was a sibling group where one of the 

children had complex emotional needs and the other was a little boy with complex 

needs who had also experienced a previous breakdown.  

 4.7 The number of birth parents referred to the service for counselling fell during the 

year to 297 in line with the national picture and slight reduction in children being 

referred. Overall take up in this area continues to pose significant challenges for the 

service as only 112 parents took up the service, although this represents one of the 

higher proportions across Wales.   

 

4.8 The provision of Life Journey Material for children at their second adoption 

review remains an area of national and regional focus.  Further improvement has 

been noted during the period with 68% of children placed having life journey work 

materials in place by the second review.  NAS has provided a Welsh Government 

grant to regions to improve performance in this area. VVC has purchased various 

resources of direct work materials which have been distributed to childcare teams in 

the region to assist and improve practice. AFA Cymru has been commissioned by 

NAS to develop a toolkit and to work with regions to develop improvement plans. 

AFA Cymru facilitated a day for VVC staff and local authority practitioners in 

November 2017 and more development days are planned.  

 

4.9 The region utilises several different methods to assist Family Finding.  If there 

are no internal links within the Collaborative external funding agreement is sought. 

The Welsh Adoption Register generates suggested links based on children’s 

referrals and adopters approved by regional collaboratives and Welsh Voluntary 

Adoption Agencies.  Last year VVC purchased a licence for Link Maker, a national 

database of children waiting. This has proved to be the most successful avenue for 

external links although sometimes this has been supplemented by an external 

mailshot which is sent securely to adoption agencies within the UK. The use of Link 

Maker has also reduced the need to advertise nationally in family finding publications 

for children waiting. 

4.10 VVC accessed the Welsh Adoption Register Exchange Day in North Wales 

September 2017 where 29 children were profiled. Unfortunately there were fewer 

adopters in attendance and many children did not have any potential links from the 

event. A lot of interest was generated for one of the children but unfortunately none 

Page 11



6 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

of these links were suitable. One link is still being explored however it has taken 

some time as therapeutic involvement was required for the transition. 

4.11 The service has also used Activity Days organised through Coram BAAF to 

promote children that were harder to place. Three were accessed across the UK, 

one child attended in May 2017, another attended in June 2017 and a third child 

attended in September 2017. Unfortunately no appropriate links progressed from 

these days. The first Welsh Adoption Activity Day took place in March 2018. This 

was extremely successful and resulted in links progressing to a match for four 

children, a toddler with additional needs, an older child and a sibling group of two.  

4.12 As members of Adoption UK VVC is able to access ‘Children Who Wait’, a 

magazine which profiles children seeking adoptive families. A sibling group of two 

were profiled in September 2017 and two single children were profiled in March –

May 2018 for three sequential editions. The sibling group were not linked using this 

method however we are exploring links for the two single children. As part of the 

membership VVC is able to access 10 free advertising spaces from April 2018 which 

will hopefully be utilised productively. 

 4.13 An application to join ‘New Families Social’ Adoption Group from April 2018 

has been made which will hopefully offer another avenue of profiling children to 

approved same sex adopters across the UK.  

5. RECRUITMENT AND ASSESSMENT OF ADOPTERS 

5.1 The Performance Management Framework records key activity around enquiries, 
response times to enquiries, applications and timeliness in respect of approval of 
adopters. The returns in respect of adopter activity have been mixed, with 
improvements in some areas and not in other areas.  
 
5.2. The region received 242 enquiries from prospective adopters in total for the year 
2017/18 which represents an impressive 61% increase on the previous year and is 
the highest it has been for three years.  This is encouraging and provides a sound 
basis for planning recruitment activity going forward.  It remains however difficult to 
accurately identify the geographical location for all the enquiries received, although 
the local authority area is now a standard question on the enquiry form linked to the 
VVC website. Whilst this question has been added, VVC continues to receive a 
significant number of electronic enquiries where the local authority area is not 
completed and this information is not specified on the enquiries that come via the 
NAS website. Of the 242 enquiries received, VVC was only able to identify the local 
authority area for 152.  
 
5.3 VVC’s response rate to enquiries within five working days has returned to 100% 
following a slight drop in performance during the previous year.  It is anticipated that 
the employment of a Marketing Officer will address any further deficits in this area 
and enhance our initial response to ensure that enquiries are followed up promptly. 
 

Page 12



7 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

5.4 The region approved 46 adopter households in the year 2017/18 compared with 
47 in the previous year. The region was on target to approve over 50 households but 
there were 5 assessments that did not progress to Panel.  This is a high number but 
the reasons given assist in understanding the complexities which can occur in 
assessing adopters.  In two of the assessments, the couple’s birth children were not 
supporting adoption, in one of the assessments the couple had come to a realisation 
that adoption was not right for their family situation and in another a realisation that 
they had come too late to adoption.  In the fifth assessment that did not proceed a 
complex family issue had emerged which the couple found too intrusive to continue.  
There were two further assessments that were due to be completed in the final 
quarter of the year but were put on hold. The first couple suffered the loss of a family 
member and wished to take some time to grieve.  The second couple had a complex 
family issue which arose during the assessment which needed further investigation.  
 
5.5 In relation to VVC’s overall performance in relation to the timeliness of 
assessments the picture is mixed. The timescales from initially enquiry to approval 
has increased from 12.2 months to 13.5 months but the timescale from application 
to approval has improved with an average of 7.1 months overall. These figures 
clearly highlight that the greatest gap is between initial enquiry and application, 
arguably something that has been out of the control of the Collaborative as this is 
very much related to individual choice.  The region continues to be able to account 
for the delays in assessment and has continued to supply an explanatory narrative to 
NAS to accompany the return in respect of these measures.   
 
5.6 As mentioned in the previous report, VVC revamped the initial information 
provided to adopters, believing that those interested in adoption should be provided 
with more information on the needs of children at a far earlier stage in the process in 
order for them to make a more informed decision around whether adoption is the 
right choice for them. This continues to be the case, and those attending the 
information evenings have frequently provided very positive feedback to VVC on how 
much better informed they have felt. It is clear that the trend noted previously with 
enquirers taking a longer time to come forward for an initial visit has continued. The 
recruitment of families for siblings and children with additional needs continues to 
remain a challenge. 
 
5.7 The shortfall in adopter recruitment and the number of children waiting at year 
end has become an emerging and very pressing need.  VVC was required, along 
with other regions to submit a Recruitment Plan and target for approvals at year end. 
For the reasons indicated above VVC fell short of this target but the need to increase 
adopter resource was considered closely by the Best Value Review and the 
additional resources recommended in recruitment & Assessment was in response to 
as the emerging need. 
 
5.8 The decision to employ a Marketing and Recruitment Co-ordinator is seen as 
crucial in being able to track and harness the enquiries to increase the number of 
enquiries which can be converted into applications.  Due to the number of children 
waiting and the number of Placement Orders projected to be made in the coming 
year, NAS project that the number of adoptive placements required will be 145. This 
is likely to pose significant challenges upon the service. The Marketing and 
Recruitment Officer has recently been appointed. 

Page 13



8 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

 
5.9 As of 31st March 2018 there were 26 assessments being completed by the region 
with a further 11 assessments generated from the adopter training in March 2018 
which were all allocated within the first quarter of 2018/19.  
 
5.10 Five of the adopter assessments undertaken during the year were from foster 
carers wishing to adopt the child in placement.  Of the five that were completed in 
2017/18, four of them had the child placed with them for more than one year at the 
point of their application.  
 
5.11 During the past year the majority of the assessments completed have been 
allocated within the Recruitment and Assessment function. Agreement to extend 
hours for a couple of part time staff in the Family Finding Team was sought to 
complete assessments that could not be allocated and by utilising staff slippage 
monies.  Assessment plans and mid-point reviews have continued to be used to 
improve practice and timeliness. 
 
5.12. VVC continues to receive high numbers of non-agency adoption referrals, the 
majority of which are from step parents wishing to adopt their step child.  It is 
planned that this area of work will be collated by NAS in the coming year. Again this 
is an area which poses significant challenges for the service.  The need to prioritise 
the recruitment of adopters for children waiting to be adopted has resulted in a 
waiting list for allocation. On occasion, applicants have submitted their application to 
adopt directly into Court which resulted in an urgent assessment being required.  
 
5.13. During the year, there has also been a slight increase in inter-country related 

enquiries, which have posed some issues for the team due to their complexity.  Quite 

a few of the enquiries received are from couples wishing to adopt a child who is 

known to them, who resides in a different country.  This area has also identified a 

knowledge gap in the service which we hope to address via training. 

5.14 Towards the end of the reporting period, NAS was able to secure some 

additional funding to assist with recruitment.  VVC utilised their grant to provide 

leaflets to assist with marketing the service and along with two other regions to 

employ a marketing company, COWSHED to develop a regional Marketing Plan.  

Further funding has been provided by NAS to provide mentoring by the company to 

the regions. This plan will therefore be further developed by the Marketing Co-

ordinator in conjunction with COWSHED. 

5.15 VVC has recognised that further training is beneficial for adopters to help 

prepare them for the matching process following approval as adopters.  A couple of 

staff within Recruitment and Assessment have therefore devised a fourth day course 

for adopters which now runs every two months. The course provides guidance to 

help prospective adopters prepare for a visit from a childcare Social Worker to 

discuss a proposed match providing  an overview of the process required to match a 

child and explain the legal process of adoption. Information about how introductions 

are planned is also provided.  The second part of the course encourages adopters to 

think about the grief and loss a child will experience following a placement move. 

Page 14



9 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

Activities are undertaken to help adopters think about their support network and 

highlight the importance of seeking help if they experience difficulties post 

placement.  Techniques to promote positive parenting are discussed and materials 

shared to help adopters think about ways they can introduce themselves to children 

prior to placement.   

5.16 Three training sessions were held between November 2017 and March 2018 

and a total of 37 people attended the course during this period. A lot of positive 

feedback was received from participants including comments such as adopters felt 

‘better prepared’ and found the course ‘informative and enjoyable’.  A Welcome 

Booklet for new adopters has also been developed which provides information and 

guidance pre-matching on a range of issues. 

6. ADOPTION SUPPORT 

6.1 Demand for adoption support services has remained steady through 2017-18. 
With 81 requests for adoption support received VVC is showing a consistent referral 
rate with the previous year’s figure (83). This averages around 20 referrals per 
quarter requiring allocation for assessment. This trend has also continued in Quarter 
1 of 2018-19 when 25 referrals were received.     
 

 
 
Although referral rates overall remain similar, Cardiff’s proportion of referrals rose by 
54% from 2016-17 whilst RCT and the Vale of Glamorgan saw a drop of around 
35%. Merthyr’s referral rate dropped by over 50% however this represents a drop 
from 9 referrals in 2016-17 to just 4 in 2017-18. Q1 figures for 2018-2019 show 
referrals for Cardiff, RCT and the Vale of Glamorgan on a par with each other; in fact 
the Vale of Glamorgan has had 8 referrals in Q1 this year when there were only 11 in 
the whole of 2017-18.  
 
6.2 In relation to Access to Birth Records cases, VVC has observed a drop of around 
28% in referrals with 48 in 2017-18, however in contrast intermediary referrals have 
increased by 59% to 54 (from 34 last year). Comparing the referral rates when VVC 
became operational in 2015-16 to the year-end figures for 2017-18, intermediary 
referrals have increased by 184%. This is largely due to the increase in VVC’s 
capacity to allocate Access to Birth Records cases resulting in an increase in these 
adopted adults seeking a follow-on intermediary service.  VVC remains one of few 
regions in Wales that has been able to continue to provide this service albeit with a 
lengthy waiting list. 

43

4

23

11

0

50

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale

Post-Adoption Support 

Referrals by Authority 2017-18

Page 15



10 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

 

  
 
There has been no marked difference in the referral rates by local authority from the 
previous year in relation to Access to Birth Records. There is a notable increase in 
intermediary referrals for RCT from 7 to 20 in 2017-18 (185% increase).  
 
6.3 As at 31st March 2018 there were 812 open letterbox cases, an increase of 6% 
from 767 on 31 March 2017. This reflects the ongoing gradual increase observed in 
letterbox contact as new referrals exceed the number of existing arrangements 
closing when a child reaches 18. 
 
6.4 The permanent staffing to enhance the Adoption Support Team 2016 as a result 
of the pilot exercise in 2016 and the outcome of the Best Value Review has been of 
significant benefit in reducing pressures within the team and gaps in service delivery. 
The Letterbox Co-ordinator role in particular has improved the quality of support 
being provided to adoptive families and birth parents.  
 
6.5 Other monies secured as part of the 2016 pilot were used to access specialist 
training, the majority of this being used in 2016-17 although additional training has 
been  accessed for some staff in the Adoption Support Team to complete DDP Level 
1 training during the year. Staff within the Adoption Support Team are experienced 
and committed to service improvement.  The team has facilitated adoption support 
groups for adoptive parents with topics including Sensory Processing Difficulties, 
Social Media and Contact in the last year. In addition, a monthly toddler groups has 
been maintained which provides opportunities for early intervention as well as bi-
annual fun days which have high attendances.  
 
6.6.Family fun days were held in July and November 2017 which were both well 
attended and numbers of those attending remain consistently high at around 90-100 
children. VVC issued a newsletter in the spring of 2018 which was produced by the 
Adoption Support Manager. The region also contributed to the Adopter Voice project 
with Adoption UK which included attendance at one of VVC’s support groups to 
consult with adopters. A report of this consultation has been presented to VVC 
Management Board. 
 
6.7 The Regional Adoption Manager and Adoption Support Manager have continued 
to be involved in the IPC project commissioned by NAS to develop a National 
Framework for Adoption Support,  the National Adoption Support sub group 
meetings to take forward the Framework as well as the focused project on Life 
Journey Work through 2017-18.The Adoption Support Manager has been involved in 
securing resources to utilise the grant monies referred to earlier in the report to 

26

0

16

6

0

10

20

30

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale

Access to Birth Records 

referrals by Authority 2017-18

20

4

20

10

0

10

20

30

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale

Intermediary referrals by 

Authority (2017-18)

Page 16



11 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

support improvements in Life Journey work. Further funding is anticipated for 2018-
19 and plans for how to make the best use of these resources are being considered. 
 
6.8 The Adoption Support Team has continued to develop an understanding of the 

demand for targeted and therapeutic services with families needing support across 

the region and the cost of these to the local authorities. At present the adoption 

support budget is not held centrally in the region and is retained by the individual 

local authorities.  This continues to pose some challenge in terms of equity of service 

and timeliness of decision making, but generally local authority partners concur with 

the assessment undertaken by VVC and packages of support are being put in place 

as needed. The Adoption Support Manager is currently developing an adoption 

support improvement plan which places a greater focus on social work input and 

intervention with families prior to progression to therapeutic support services with a 

view to avoiding the need for such interventions. 

6.9 The Regional Adoption Manager and Adoption Support Manager have in 

conjunction with colleagues from Western Bay met with the CAMHS Clinical Lead 

with a view to developing a consultancy service for Social Workers and a clear 

referral pathway for adopted children who may require a CAMHS service. A plan to 

progress these initial discussions is being developed. 

7. ADOPTION PANEL 

7.1 The Collaborative has continued to operate a joint regional Panel from two 

sittings, a north sitting covering cases from RCT and Merthyr Tydfil CBC and a south 

sitting covering cases from Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.  Where adopter 

approvals involve no medical issues, there is provision to transfer the case for 

consideration to the Panel sitting with availability.  

7.2. Panel business has remained at a high level during the year with 42 Panel 

meetings being held, with three scheduled meetings being cancelled due to delays in 

cases being ready for presentation.  

7.3 As outlined in the previous report and highlighted as an improvement action in 

the Best Value Review, a significant area of development for the Panel has been to 

move to digitalising the Panel process and business.  This work was completed by 

the end of March 2018 with the result that Panel business is now conducted via the 

use of tablets and sending Panel information to Panel members via a secure portal. 

This has improved security and reduced administrative time and printing costs. 

7.4 Maintenance of the central list of Panel members continues to pose challenges in 

terms of maintaining a sufficient number of independent members and Social Work 

members. Some new members have been recruited during the year. An induction 

session for new members was held in June 2017 and a training day for all Panel 

members was also held in June 2017 facilitated by an independent trainer.  

 

Page 17



12 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

7.5 The other priority set in respect of completing the annual reviews of Panel 

members remains outstanding but a timetable is being developed to meet this 

requirement. 

8. COMPLAINTS AND COMPLIMENTS 

8.1 VVC has received the following complaints during the period: 

• Complaint from prospective adopters regarding the process of linking and 

matching a child and lack of transparency on the part of the local authority 

Social Worker and staff within the Collaborative in respect of a link they were 

being considered for. 

• Complaint from non-agency adopters regarding the initial advice provided by 

VVC regarding the process and requirements. 

• Complaint from a step parent regarding the step parent adoption process, the 

delay in the Social Worker concluding the report and not responding to 

queries raised by the applicant. 

• Complaint to the Managing Director from an adopted person regarding the 

service provided in respect of his access to birth records enquiry. 

• Complaint from adoptive parents regarding their attendance at Adoption Panel 

in 2015 following a review of their approval. Complaint received as part of a 

stage 2 complaint to Cardiff Council concerning the breakdown in 

introductions to a child. 

• Complaint from adoptive parent in respect of the post adoption support 

received from the allocated Social Worker. 

• Complaint from an adoptive parent regarding the delay in securing a post 

adoption therapeutic support package. 

• Complaint from adopters alleging that they had been discriminated against 

and treated less favourably by VVC staff in terms of their assessment and the 

subsequent linking process. 

8.2 All the complaints have been resolved at stage 1 of the Vale of Glamorgan 

Complaint Process.   

8.3 Two of the complaints have highlighted issues in respect of the linking process.  

VVC has, as outlined earlier in the report, introduced a fourth day of training to 

address some of the issues raised.  Two of the complaints have highlighted issues in 

respect of the non-agency adoption process. VVC’s website now contains 

information in respect of this process. Two have highlighted concerns in respect of 

adoption support which were addressed.  

8.4 Regional staff have also received a number of compliments during the year. A 

record of these is maintained.  The compliments include positive feedback from the 

fun-days, the toddler group, information evening and support provided for letterbox 

contact and access to birth records enquiries. 

Page 18



13 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

9. CONCLUSION AND 2018-19 PRIORITIES 

9.1 During the period for this report, a Best Value Review was undertaken, 

commissioned by the Directors of the four local authorities.  This provided a real 

opportunity to look at the strengths and weaknesses of the service and to look at 

potential remedies to address some of the presenting difficulties. The findings of the 

Review validated the earlier work undertaken by VVC detailing capacity and 

resourcing issues and options to address the shortfalls in the service. 

9.2 In respect of regional performance, the increased the number of children being 

placed for adoption during the period, the number being adopted and the reduced 

time taken to place a child for adoption from Placement Order are positive 

improvements.  Some improvement has also been noted in the provision of Life 

Journey materials for children placed and in respect of the take up of birth parent 

counselling. These improvements must however be considered against the increase 

in the number of children waiting for placements and the number waiting over six 

months to be placed. This set against the decrease in approvals of adopters and 

delays in timely recruitment of adopters makes recruitment an ongoing and clear 

priority for the service. 

9.3 The service has also been proactive in developing some new initiatives during 

the year to more effectively support adopters and prepare them for placement.  

There is also evidence that the increased permanent resource in Adoption Support is 

having a positive effect in improving performance and reducing pressures on the 

service.  The priorities set for the 2017-18 have been met in part but some are 

ongoing due to the need to continue to remain focused on our core business.  

9.4 The priorities we have set for 2018-19 focus upon completing the actions arising 

from the Best Value Review which have been endorsed by the Management Board. 

Particular emphasis for the remainder of the year will focus upon driving up the 

conversion rate of adopter enquiry to application with the intention of increasing the 

rate of adopter approvals.  Some systems have already been put in place to improve 

our initial response following the recent appointment of the Marketing and 

Recruitment Co-ordinator and so it is hoped that these can be developed further 

once the additional resources in Recruitment and Assessment are in place. 

9.10 The other focus of activity and priority for VVC during this current year has been 

managing the recent relocation of the service to Barry. In order to achieve as smooth 

a transition as possible and to minimise service disruption, this has required careful 

planning and preparation by VVC staff and the development of some new systems of 

working to meet the needs of the whole region. The permanent location will have 

benefits longer term but the service is still in a settling in period so it is important that 

our priorities remain delivering our core business and service improvements. 

 

Page 19



14 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

Angela Harris 

Regional Adoption Manager  

September 2018 

Page 20



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

1 |  

 

This report provides an overview of VVC performance against key indicators in respect children and 

adopters as agreed by Management Board. The information is provided by local authority.  Comparative 

data is presented for 2016-17. 

CHILDREN 

Number of Children Referrals made to VVC since April 2017 – of the 244 referrals received for 2017/18 – 

57 have been withdrawn (23%) 

 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 117 24 82 21 244 

The number of children referred for adoption has fallen slightly although this total represents the highest in 

Wales. 

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 63 84 50 83 280 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Children Referred -

Comparative Data

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 6 15 17 10 11 11 5 10 9 8 9 6

Merthyr 0 6 1 5 2 4 1 0 2 1 0 2

RCT 13 7 7 8 6 0 11 2 10 8 2 8

VOG 0 1 2 0 5 2 2 2 1 3 3 0

Total 19 29 27 23 24 17 19 14 22 20 14 16

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

VOG

Total

Linear (Total)

Number of children
referred

Page 21



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

2 |  

 

2017/18 75 64 55 50 244 

Total 138 148 105 133 524 

 

Number of Should Be Placed Decisions made since April 2017 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale Total 

Total 60 3 49 8 120 

 

The number of children with a Should be Placed for adoption decision has slightly increased during the 

period. 

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 25 33 31 28 117 

2017/18 24 36 32 28 120 

Total 49 69 63 56 237 

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 3 1 2 5 8 5 9 8 3 10 4 2

Merthyr 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

RCT 6 4 3 5 5 9 4 5 0 2 3 3

Vale 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 3 0 0

Total 11 6 5 12 13 15 13 14 4 15 7 5

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Should be Placed

Decisions

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Should be Placed -

Comparative Data

Page 22



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

3 |  

 

 

 

Number of Placement Orders made since April 2017 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 46 6 45 5 102 

The region has seen a decrease in the number of children being made subject of a Placement Order during 

the year but at year end there were 117 children waiting with a Placement Order who were not placed. 16 

children were on hold, 24 children were proceeding to matching, 10 had active links being pursued and VVC 

was actively family finding for 67 children. 

 

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 18 33 26 36 113 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 2 2 3 3 4 8 3 6 3 7 3 3

Merthyr 0 2 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 0

RCT 4 3 5 6 3 8 5 4 2 1 3 1

Vale 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Total 9 7 9 10 8 17 8 10 6 9 6 4

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Number of Placement
Orders Granted

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Placement Orders -

Comparative Data

Page 23



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

4 |  

 

2017/18 25 35 24 18 102 

Total 43 68 50 55 216 

 

 

 

Number of children Placed for Adoption since April 2017 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 40 2 42 2 86 

The number of children placed for adoption during the year has increased on the previous year.  This 

number is the highest in Wales.  Concern however remains in respect of the number of children waiting for 

placement and the length of time they wait. 

 

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 1 4 5 4 5 3 5 6 0 1 1 5

Merthyr 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

RCT 0 3 4 5 5 0 1 7 1 3 5 8

Vale 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0

Total 2 7 9 9 10 3 7 14 1 5 6 13

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Children placed

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Children Placed -

Comparative Data

Page 24



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

5 |  

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 21 24 13 23 81 

2017/18 18 22 22 24 86 

Total 39 46 35 47 167 

 

 

 

Number of Adoption Orders Granted since April 2017 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 27 6 31 7 71 

 

Adoption Orders have increased from the previous year. 

Number of Adoption Orders Granted – Comparative Data 

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 2 2 2 1 3 1 0 3 3 0 4 5

Merthyr 0 2 1 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0

RCT 1 3 3 1 2 7 1 1 5 1 3 3

Vale 0 0 3 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1

Total 3 7 9 4 6 8 3 4 10 1 7 9

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Adoption Orders

granted

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Adoption Orders

Granted

Page 25



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

6 |  

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 21 12 15 17 65 

2017/18 19 18 17 17 71 

Total 40 30 32 34 136 

 

 

 

 

Number of children Matched (approved by Agency Decision Maker) but not placed since April 2017 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 43 1 42 5 91 

This represents the number who were matched at the end of the year whose placement fell in the following quarter. 

Number of children Matched (approved by Agency Decision Maker) – Comparative Data 

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 4 4 5 3 4 5 8 0 3 1 0 6

Merthyr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

RCT 1 3 5 4 3 0 3 7 3 3 9 1

Vale 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 2

Total 5 7 10 7 7 6 13 7 7 4 9 9

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Number of children 
matched

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Children Matched

Page 26



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

7 |  

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 30 20 23 12 85 

2017/18 22 20 27 22 91 

Total 51 40 49 34 176 

 

 

 

 

Number of children Matched in since April 2017 who have waited longer than 6 months (or 3 months for 

a relinquished child under 6 months of age) to progress from date of Should be Placed for Adoption 

Decision to date of Agency Decision to approve Match 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 30 0 26 4 60 

These graphs demonstrate an increase in the numbers waiting longer than six months for placement. 

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 3 3 5 2 2 4 6 0 0 1 0 4

Merthyr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RCT 1 2 4 3 2 1 2 3 1 3 3 1

Vale 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

Total 4 5 9 5 4 5 10 3 1 4 3 7

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Waiting longer

than 6-months

Page 27



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

8 |  

 

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 19 10 5 10 44 

2017/18 16 16 14 14 60 

Total 35 26 19 24 104 

 

 

 

Number of children Placed for Adoption since April 2017 for whom Life Journey Material has been 

provided to adopters by the time of 2nd Adoption Review 

 

Totals 2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

2
nd

 Adoption 

Review  

44 2 23 3 72 

Life Journey 

provided   

26 2 16 3 47 (NAS have 49 as 

both the Vale and 

Merthyr submitted 1 

each which was not 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Waiting longer than

6-months - Comparative 

Data

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Cardiff 7 8 8 3

Merthyr 1 1 0 0

RCT 2 6 7 1

Vale 1 2 0 0

Total 11 17 15 4

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Life Journey Work

Page 28



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

9 |  

 

accurate and this was 

submitted to NAS) 

This chart is representative of VVC’s figures broken down by local authority. 

Not all the data was available for the NAS report but they calculate our overall performance is 68% which is an 

improvement on previous years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADOPTERS 

Number of Initial Enquiries regarding Adoption received since April 2017 - Total number of initial 

enquiries received = 242 of which 90 (37%) we are not able to allocate to a local authority as they were 

received by email.  This is something we are continuing to address.  

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 62 11 50 29 152 (actual 242) 

These graphs indicate the breakdown by authority. There are a large number where the geographical area 

is unknown. 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 9 3 2 6 3 5 8 5 5 10 1 5

Merthyr 0 2 0 1 0 1 1 1 2 1 1 1

RCT 1 1 4 4 3 6 6 5 2 8 7 3

Vale 1 4 2 1 2 1 2 3 2 3 4 4

Total 11 10 8 12 8 13 17 14 11 22 13 13

0

5

10

15

20

25

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Initial Enquiries

Page 29



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

10 |  

 

 

Number of Initial Enquiries regarding Adoption received – Comparative Data 

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 36 43 27 44 150 

2017/18 52 62 63 65 242 

Total 88 105 90 109 392 

 

 

Number of Prospective Adopters receiving Agency Decision to approve as suitable to adopt since April 

2017 – Note; there were 10 approvals in Q4, 2 of which were from outside VVC 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG OTHER Total 

Total 20 2 12 10 2 46 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Initial Enquiries -

Comparative Data

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 2 4 3 3 0 1 0 4 0 0 1 2

Merthyr 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

RCT 0 1 2 1 0 2 2 0 1 2 0 1

Vale 0 1 0 1 1 1 2 2 0 0 0 2

Total 2 6 5 6 1 4 5 6 1 2 1 5

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Approved Adopters

Page 30



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

11 |  

 

These figures demonstrate a slight decrease on the previous year. Unfortunately five couples withdrew 

during assessment and one post approval  which has had an impact upon the region meeting its’ goal. 

 

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 16 16 9 6 47 

2017/18 13 11 12 10 46 

Total 29 27 21 16 93 

 

CHILDREN PLACED WITHIN REGION AND OUTSIDE REGION 

 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 15 2 33 1 51 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Approved Adopters -

Comparative Data

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 0 1 2 2 2 1 3 0 0 1 1 2

Merthyr 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

RCT 0 2 2 3 5 0 1 7 1 3 4 5

Vale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Total 1 3 4 5 7 1 4 8 1 5 5 7

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Children placed

within the Region

Page 31



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

12 |  

 

 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 25 0 9 1 35 

 

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 1 3 3 2 3 2 2 6 0 0 0 3

Merthyr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RCT 0 1 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3

Vale 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Total 1 4 5 4 3 2 3 6 0 0 1 6

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Children placed

outside the Region

Page 32



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 

Cwm Taff Integrated Family Support Team annual report 2017-2018 
 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to bring the Cwm Taf Integrated Family 

Support Team’s annual report 2017/2018 to the attention of the scrutiny 
committee for the purpose of information.  The objectives of the annual 
report is to report organisational and operational matters within the 
Integrated Family Support Team (IFST) and to highlight  critical issues 
which will need to be addressed in the coming year.  The report 
highlights outcomes for Merthyr Tydfil families and anticipated next 
steps.   

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Committee is asked to receive this report and to raise questions 

and challenge leading to improvement.  Children’s Services will achieve 
the work identified in 6.1, 6.2, 6.3 and 7.1  

 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The aim of the Integrated Family Support Team (IFST) is to deliver 
family focussed services to enable parents to achieve the necessary 

Date Written 23rd November 2018 

Report Author Joe Rhys-Jones 

Service Area Children’s Services 

Committee Date Tuesday 4th December 2018 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



behaviour changes that will improve their capacity and capability as 
parents. The principles underpinning the service are to:  

 
•  Strengthen the safeguarding and welfare of children through 

restorative action to better support parents; 
•  Improve the quality of service experience by parents and children 

when they engage with professionals;  
• Be family focussed and family centred, ensuring their voices are 

heard and interventions are aligned with the outcomes they want to 
achieve;  

•  Facilitate service change;  
•  Be a resource to existing services;  
•  Build trusting relationships; and  
• Deliver holistic and intensive evidence-based interventions to engage 

complex families.  
 

3.2  The Cwm Taf IFST has been in place since 2010, following the Welsh 
Assembly Government confirming that RCT and Merthyr Tydfil would be 
given pioneer status in delivering the Integrated Family Support Service 
(IFST). Rhondda Cynon Taf act as host for the team, employing the 
social care staff directly and managing the day to day deployment of the 
NHS staff seconded to the Team by the Cwm Taf University Health 
Board.  The IFST continues to develop in line with the requirements of 
the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014.  
 

3.3 As can be seen at 6.12 of the IFST Annual Report 2017-2018, referrals 
from Merthyr Tydfil have continued to rise throughout the year. This is 
good news, however this has proved to be a challenge for the IFST due 
to reduced staffing in the team which has resulted in a waiting list which 
is an unsatisfactory position.  In response to this, IFST are trialling a way 
of allocating families quicker by undertaking earlier consultation with 
social workers in order to ensure that the right families are receiving the 
right service at the right time.  Merthyr Tydfil Children’s Services have 
used their ‘Edge of Care Panel’ to highlight families that need to be 
prioritised, this Panel discusses those children and young people who 
are at most risk of becoming looked after by the local authority.   

 
 3.4 The Annual Report 6.13 Figure 8 illustrates a change in trend of the 

legal status at the point of referral by Merthyr Tydfil Children’s Services; 
a higher proportion of families subject to Care and Support planning as 
opposed to last year where predominately families where subject to 
Child Protection Planning at the point of referral.  This is explained as 
earlier identification of issues meeting the criteria of the IFST as well as 
those families referred at the front door and before child protection 
procedures are instigated. Both scenarios tell a good news story in Page 34



terms of early intervention and provision of the right support at the right 
time.  

 
3.5 Of interest to the Scrutiny Committee is 6.14 Figure 9 which indicates 

that alcohol continues to be the most prevalent substance identified as 
problematic at the point of referral.     

 
3.6 Of further interest to the scrutiny committee is the data collected by the 

IFST evidencing the progress of children referred to the IFST who 
 complete interventions (figure 10 and11). These long term outcomes 
 evidence the difference IFST makes to families by affecting 

sustainable positive change and preventing children becoming looked 
after. 
 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE:  
 

4.1 During 2016-2017 it was noted that that referrals in respect of 
‘substance misuse and early pregnancies’ were not timely and not giving 
the IFST team the time  needed to improve opportunities in order to 
effect change.  

 
4.2  It was also noted last year that we identified that practitioners in Merthyr 

Tydfil Children’s Services would take advantage of IFST new projects 
including: ‘co-occurring substance misuse and mental health and Family 
Group Conference.   

  
5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 

5.1 Merthyr Tydfil Children’s Services have continued to deepen their 
relationship with the IFST who continue to offer the right interventions to 
the right families at the right time, this has included brief interventions, 
intensive interventions and where appropriate family group conferences.  

 
5.2 Merthyr Tydfil Children’s Services have committed to IFST training in 

Co-Occurring substances misuse and mental health. The Intake and 
Early Assessment Team have been offered a bespoke package of 
training as requested by the Team Manager, following the success of 
this the IFST are working closely with the team to facilitate a range of 
training sessions to support social workers with embedding Evidence 
Based Practice within their assessments.     

 
5.3 Having identified a need for earlier identification of pregnant mothers 

who need support and by highlighting the issues, IFST report that they 
have seen some progress in this area, however, further development is 

Page 35



identified.  The IFST has recently appointed a Health Visitor with vast 
experience of working in Merthyr Tydfil and who will be well positioned to 
help develop this alongside Children’s Services.    

 
6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 

6.1 Merthyr Tydfil Children’s Services would wish to continue to take 
advantage of the training opportunities offered by the IFST. 

 
6.2 Merthyr Tydfil Children’s Services are looking forward to the recruitment 

of a Health Visitor to the IFST and we will use this opportunity to 
strengthen our links with the Health Board and to continue to make 
referrals in respect of expectant mothers at the earliest opportunity.   

 
6.3 Merthyr Tydfil Children’s Service will aim to support the IFST to further 

embed WCCIS.  We hope that this will result in the collection of richer 
data which will deliver superior intelligence in respect of, for example:  
outcomes for Merthyr families one year on following intervention, 
outcomes for children looked after one year on following intervention  

 
7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 

7.1 Merthyr Tydfil representatives; The Principal Manager and the Head of 
Children’s Services will continue to monitor and contribute to the 
development of the IFST as part of our strategy to improve wellbeing 
and prevention of risk and children becoming looked after, this will be 
achieved via representation on the IFST Management Board and 
monitoring of the contract that we have with the IFST.    

 
8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1  This area of business and the Council’s offer under Children’s Services 

Strategy for the Edge of Care – making sure that families benefit from 
the right evidence based intervention at the right time. It is also located 
in the following Corporate Objective under Focus on the Future:   

 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, 
where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.   

 
  

 

 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR DAVE HUGHES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES  
 Page 36



 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

IFST annual report  
 
  

Attached to report 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  There are no issues in this or the IFST annual report that 
might impact on the Councils Constitution 
 

 
No 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

Cwm Taf Integrated Family Support Team 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Annual Report 
April 2017 - March 2018 

 
 

"I know that I "Clicked" a bit late, but when I did, everything you have been telling me just 
came back to me, exactly when I needed it....thank you so so much, I wouldn’t be where I am 

without your help" (Mother who worked with IFST). 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

2 

 

 
CWM TAF INTEGRATED FAMILY SUPPORT TEAM ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18.  

 
 
Executive Summary:  
 
 
2017-18 continued to see a rise in demand for the IFST service with referrals increasing from 
both Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil.  
 
The IFST completed intensive interventions leading to family plans with 56 families. In total 
we held 99 IFST review meetings. The team completed Brief Interventions with the families 
of 46 children.   
 
Where families completed full IFST interventions they achieved or exceeded 84% of their 
goals.   
 
53% of families who completed Intensive Interventions were closed to children service 12 
months after the intervention. Where children were referred as Care and Support or Child 
Protection 74% of children were closed to children services 12 months after an intervention.  
 
A reduction in overall staffing will produce some additional challenges in 2018/19, and 
require us to ensure that we realise the full capacity of the current team. New ways of 
managing referrals are being trialled with the aim of ensuring that we work with the right 
families, at the right time.  
 
The IFST continue to attend the Merthyr Tydfil "Edge of Care" panel and the Rhondda Cynon 
Taf Interface meetings, where priority cases can be discussed.  
 
The education and training of practitioners to use Evidence based Interventions continues to 
be an important part of the transformational change agenda. 100% of those who attended 
IFST training in 2017/18 said that it was either useful or very useful to their practice.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



 

3 

 

RHONDDA-CYNON-TAFF AND MERTHYR TYDFIL INTEGRATED FAMILY SUPPORT TEAM 
ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18.  

Author: Jay Goulding, Cwm Taf Integrated Family Support Team, Team Performance and 
Development Manager.   

 

Read and Endorsed by  

 

Name Signature Title Date of 
Issue 

Signed 
Version 

Matthew Free  Rhondda Cynon Taf Early 
Intervention Service 
Manager.  

  

Joe Rhys Jones   Merthyr Tydfil 
Operational Manager.  

  

Allyson Allman   Health    

Stuart Williams   Health    

     

 

Endorsed on behalf of the Regional members by.   

Name Signature Title Date of 
Issue 

Signed 
Version 

     

Distribution 

This document has been distributed to: 
 

Name Title Issue Date Last version 
distributed 

    

    

    

    

 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 41



 

4 

 

CONTENTS 
 
 
 

1. Purpose of Document       
 

2. Objectives         
 

3. Introduction        
 

4. Governance        
 

5. Service Delivery        
 

6. Referrals  
 

7. Training and Workforce Development.        
 

8. Service Developments.       
 

9. Priorities for the next 12 months       
 

10. Expenditure        
 

11. Conclusion   
 
 

 
 
Appendices:  

 
A. Finance - Expenditure.  
B. Case Study.  
C. Service User Feedback.  

        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

5 

 

1. Purpose of the document.  
 

1.1 To provide an Annual Report on the progress of the Cwm Taf Integrated Family 
Support Team in 2017-18.  

 
2. Objectives.  

 
2.1 The aim of this document is to report on organisational and operational matters 
within the Cwm Taf IFST and to highlight critical issues which will need to be 
addressed in the coming year.  

 
3. Introduction.  

 
3.1 The Cwm Taf Integrated Family Support Team (IFST) is collaboration between 
Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC and Merthyr Tydfil CBC. Created as one of the pioneer areas 
in 2010, the team has continued to develop in line with the requirements of the Social 
Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014.  

 
3.2 The Cwm Taf IFST is an experienced and highly skilled, multi-disciplinary team, 
delivering Evidence Based Interventions (EBI's) to families with complex issues 
including parental/carer drug and/or alcohol misuse, domestic abuse and adult mental 
health issues. Its main aim continues to be about reducing levels of risk and ensuring 
positive outcomes for children.   
 
4. IFST Governance  
 
4.1 The IFST is required to report annually to the Regional Partnership Board (RPB). 
The RPB are supported in this function by the IFST Management Board, which 
provides operational overview and support. The IFST Management Board comprises of 
Service Managers from Merthyr Tydfil Children Services, Rhondda Cynon Taf Children 
Services and Cwm Taf University Health Board as well as the IFST Team Performance 
and Development Manager. The IFST Board meets on a quarterly basis and has a 
standing agenda.  
 
5. Service Delivery 
 
5.1 After a positive start, the year 2017-18 presented several challenges for the IFST 
including reduced staffing issues which lasted for several months. The reduced staffing 
had an impact on waiting times for families. The team continues to hold a waiting list. 
Holding a waiting list presents challenges and means that we are not always able to 
respond immediately to referrals when they come in. At the beginning of April 2018-
19 the team are trialling a way of allocating families quicker. The aim is that colleagues 
will undertake consultations with Social Workers earlier, with the intention of 
ensuring we get the right service, for the right family, at the right time.  
 
5.2 Both Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil CBC have their own mechanisms for 
highlighting and discussing priority cases. The Team Performance and Development 

Page 43



 

6 

 

Manager attends the Merthyr Tydfil "Edge of Care" Panel which discusses those 
children most at risk of being accommodated. These meetings are an ideal mechanism 
for highlighting which families can be best supported by the IFST. In Rhondda Cynon 
Taf the Consultant Social Worker and the Team Performance and Development 
Manager attend "Interface" meetings where priority cases can also be discussed. 

 
5.3 At the beginning of 2018 -19 the IFST will be re-located in Glyncornel, Llwynypia. 
The move will provide a significant reduction in office and building costs, which 
accounted for a significant portion of the IFST budget.  The office move will mean 
slight increased journey times for practitioners when covering some areas. All staff in 
the IFST can "Hot Desk" in offices across Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf.  
 
5.4 There are currently vacancies for 2 Health Intervention Specialists in the team 
following the retirement of one Health Visitor and the promotion of another. We are 
currently recruiting for one of these posts. Further decisions need to be made 
regarding service developments and recruitment to the team.  
 
5.5 At the beginning of 2018-19, change in funding to TEDS will reduce staffing levels 
to the longer term team which covers Rhondda Cynon Taf.  The longer term plans for 
this provision will be considered as part of the new Integrated Substance Misuse 
Service.   
 
5.6 There have been no complaints made against the IFST in the time covered by this 
report.  

 
6. Referrals to the Cwm Taf IFST.  

 
6.1 Demand for the IFST continued to grow in 2017-18. In total the team recieved 
referrals relating to 314 children including referrals for 73 children from Merthyr 
Tydfil. This compares with 250 in 2016-17, of which 62 referrals were recieved from 
Merthyr Tydfil.  At the time of writing this report the system does not allow us to 
accurately calculate the number of re-referrals into the team, however we are aware 
that a number of referrals to the team are re-referrals. 

 
Types of IFST Intervention.  

 
6.2 When a referral is made to the IFST all families are offered an IFST Initial 
Assessment, to ascertain their needs and ensure they are offered a service that meets 
their needs. Following the Initial Assessment, if the families want support they can be 
offered either an Intensive Intervention or a Brief Intervention. In Rhondda Cynon Taf 
families can also be offered support through the Longer Term Team. In this year, IFST 
families have also had the option of support through  a Family Therapist from Safer 
Families. He is based in the team and available to the team approx 1 day per week.    
 
6.3 Families who complete an IFST intensive intervention are supported to create a 
family plan. The aim of the plan is to support the family to sustain and build on 
changes they have made during the intensive intervention. The plan is co-produced 

Page 44



 

7 

 

with the family and social worker. All IFST family plans are reviewed in IFST 
maintenance/review meetings which are chaired by an Independent reviewing officer. 
In these meetings, families and professionals rate their progress in line with the 
family's goals. Goal attainment is considered later in this report.  
 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Referrals.  
 
6.4 Referrals to the IFST have remained strong throughout the year. Where possible 
we encourage Social Workers to speak with the team prior to making referrals to 
ensure that they are making the right type of referrals. Where the IFST is not the best 
service for a family, we support Social Workers to make referrals to the most 
appropriate service. Despite this, we still recieve referrals for families who are either 
not appropriate for the service or who dont want to engage with the service. 
 
6.5 Fig 1 shows the number of referrals into the IFST in 2017-18. As can be seen 
referrals into the team remained strong throughout the year, compared to the 
previous year Fig.2.  Staff sickness, retirement and turnover reduced our capacity to 
allocate families in the Intensive Team in the final quarter.  Conversly, temporary 
recruitment of staff, enabled us to allocate more families in the Longer Term Team.    

 
 
 

 
 
Fig. 1. Numbers of Rhondda Cynon Taf referrals accepted to the IFST intensive and Longer 
Term Teams 2017 - 18.  
 

 
Fig.2. Number of Rhondda Cynon Taf referrals accepted by the IFST intensive and Longer 
Term Teams 2016-17.  
 

Page 45



 

8 

 

6.6 The IFST Intensive Team accepted referrals related to 137 children in Rhondda 
Cynon Taf in 2017-18. The Longer Term Team accepted 71 referrals. Of the 137 
referrals accepted by the Intensive Team in Rhondda Cynon Taf, Brief Interventions 
were provided to the families of 46 children.  

 
Referrals based on problematic substance misuse.  
 
6.7 Fig. 3.and 4.highlight referrals to the team based on problematic substance 
misuse identified at the point of referral. As can be seen the majority of referrals to 
the team relate to parental alcohol misuse. As in previous years cannabis and 
amphetamines are the next most prevalent substance identified as being 
problematic at the point of referral.  
 

 
 
Fig.3. Breakdown of referrals to the IFST based on substance misuse of primary carer.  
 
 

 
 
Fig. 4. Breakdown of referrals to the IFST based on substance misuse of secondary carer.  
 
 
 
 
Referrals to the IFST based on identified risk behaviours.  
 

Page 46



 

9 

 

6.8 As can be seen in Fig.5 substance misuse, domestic violence, adult mental health and 
neglect account for the largest proportion of referrals to the team. These are similar data 
and proportions to those found in previous years.  
 

 
 
Fig. 5.  Referrals to IFST based on risk behaviours.  
 
Goal Attainment.  
 
6.9 Families who work with the IFST and complete an Intensive Intervention are supported 
to create personal goals,  which are related to the safeguarding concerns identified by the 
referring Social Worker. Each goal is rated on a 5-point scale, with the degree of attainment 
captured for each goal area: If the family achieves the expected level, this is scored at 0. If 
they achieve a better than expected outcome this is scored at: +1 (somewhat better) +2 
(best anticipated success). If they achieve a worse than expected outcome this is scored at: -
1 (somewhat worse) or -2 (most unfavourable outcome thought likely).   
 
6.10 The Goals are then used by the family, IFST Intervention Specialist and Social Worker to 
create a maintenance plan, which is designed to help the family consolidate the positive 
changes they have made during the intensive intervention.  The goals and plans are 
reviewed in family meetings which are chaired by Independent Reviewing Officers.  
 
6.11 In Rhondda Cynon Taf, the IFST supported 40 families to create family plans, holding 69 
IFST reviews. Fig 6 highlights the goal attainment of families who had plans reviewed in an 

Page 47



 

10 

 

IFST Review. As can be seen, where families complete a full intervention, goal attainment is 
high across all problem behaviours, with an average of 84% goals being achieved.  
 
 
 

 
 
Fig 6. Goal attainment scores of families completing full IFST interventions.  
 
Merthyr Tydfil Referrals.  
 
6.12 As can be seen in Fig.7 referrals into the team continued rise throughout the year, 
peaking in the 4th quarter. Signifcant rises sometimes occur, where larger family groups are 
referred. For example, in Q4, one referral was for a family of 6 children.  

0

5

10

15

20

25

1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr

Children

Parents

 
Fig. 7. Number of referrals to the IFST from Merthyr Tydfil Childrens services for children 
and parents in 2017 -18.  
 
6.13 Fig 8 highlights the legal status of children at the point of referral to the team. This year 
we saw a significant shift in the legal status of families referred to the team, seeing a much 
higher proportion of families being referred who were subject to care and support planning. 
This contrasts greatly with the previous year where most of the families referred were 
subject to Child Protection Planning. We feel there are two main reasons for this shift, both 

Page 48



 

11 

 

relate to earlier identification of families in need of support. Some families are referred with 
an ongoing care and support plan, others are referred by the Intake team, prior to a Child 
Protection Conference, and so are classed as care and support at the point of referral. In 
both cases, we view the earlier indentification and the referral of families as a positive stride 
towards providing the right support for families at the right time. 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Number of referrals. 

CPR/LAC

CPR

Care and

Support

LAC

 
Fig. 8. Referrals to the IFST based on legal status of children at point of referral.  
 
Referrals based on problematic substance identified at point of referral.  
 
6.14 Fig 9 highlights that alcohol is the most prevalent substance identified as problematic 
at the point of referral.  

0

5

10

15

20

25

Primary substance misused

by parents 

Alchohol 

Crack

Cannabis

Amphetamines

Heroin

Spice

Benzodiazepines

Cocaine

 
 
Fig. 9. Primary Substance Misused by parents referred by Merthyr Children Services to the 
IFST.  
 

Page 49



 

12 

 

IFST Reviews.  
 
6.15 In 2017-18, the Cwm Taf IFST created family plans with 56 families who had completed 
Intensive Interventions, holding 99 maintence/review meetings.  
 
6.16 In Rhondda Cynon Taf the IFST held 69 reviews relating to 40 families who completed 
an IFST Intesive Intervention.  
 
6.17 In Merthyr Tydfil the IFST held 30 IFST reviews in 2017 -18 relating to 16 families who 
completed an IFST Intensive Intervention.  
 
6.18 Not all referrals for families who are offered or who start an intensive intervention 
complete a full intensive intervention for several reasons; some start the intervention, but 
disengage; there are often changes in the circumstances of families in crisis including events 
that reduce or increase in risk, often resulting in a change of plan; once the work has begun, 
it sometimes becomes clear that families needs may be better met by different intervention 
(brief intervention or longer term team) or another service. The range of options available 
to practitioners means that we try to tailor our interventions to the needs of the families, 
rather than insist that all families undertake a full intervention.  
 
Long Term Outcomes. 
 
6.19 One way to measure the success of the work of the IFST is to look at the long term 
outcomes for children and families who we work with.  Figures 10 and 11 highlight the 
progress of children referred to the IFST who complete intensive interventions. In total 53% 
of RCT families who complete intensive interventions are closed to children services 12 
months after the intervention.  
 
6.20 Where children are referred and the families are supported through Child Protection 
Planning or through Care and Support Plans, 74% of children were closed to children 
services 12 months after an intensive intervention. Where children were classed as "looked 
after" they were likely to remain looked based on the data.  
 
6.21 Of the 17 Children who were Looked After at the start of the Intensive Intervention, 12 
remained looked after, 2 were supported by a care and support plans, 2 had child protection 
plans and 1 child was closed to children services.  
Further data intelligence information will be useful in future reports to help analyse the 
information we have, to help prioritise resources. For example, where children remain 
looked after, it is unclear whether they are looked after away from home, or whether they 
have returned home under placement with parents. Further interrogation of the data may, 
in the future, help us to strategically target resources where families can experience the 
greatest benefit.  

Page 50



 

13 

 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Care and Support Child Protection Children Looked 
After 

Care and Support 

Child Protection 

Children Looked After 

Closed to Children Services 

 
Figure 10 

 

 
Figure 11 
 
 
7. Training and Workforce Development.  
 
7.1 The training of health and social care staff to deliver Evidence Based Interventions 
continues to be an important part of the IFSTs ambition to support front line practitioners to 
work more confidently with families.  
 
7.2 This year we successfully ran a revised version of the Building Stronger Families module, 
delivered over three days. This course is designed to give colleagues a full understanding of 
the IFST model of practice and some of the tools to use in their everyday practice.   This year 
we also delivered ½ day training sessions for colleagues in Motivational Interviewing, and a 
full day for newly social workers.  
 
7.3 In total we trained 67 practitioners, with all participants saying that they found the 
courses to be either useful or very useful to their practice.  
 

Status at End of 
Intervention 2016-
17 

Number of 
Interventions 

Completed 
CIN 

Now CP Now 
CLA 
Now 

Case 
Closed Total 

CIN 13 0 0 0 13 13 

CPR 21 3 2 3 13 21 

CLA 17 2 2 12 1 17 

Total Intervention 
Completed 51 5 4 15 27 51 

Page 51



 

14 

 

7.4 In addition to specific IFST training, we have supported the delivery of the Co-Occurring 
Substance Misuse and Mental Health training through membership of the delivery group 
and by releasing an IFST intervention specialist to deliver training. 
 
7.5 Below is a full list of the training courses delivered by the Cwm Taf IFST in 2017-18.  
 

o IFSS. Building Stronger Families through IFSS- Family Focused Interventions, 
three day course.  

o Introduction to Motivational Interviewing, half day workshop.   
o Motivational Interviewing for Social Workers. One day, delivered to the first 

year in practice group.   
o Information sharing workshops for professionals.  
o Safeguarding Children's Board Training, Level 3.  
o Parental Substance Misuse for Merthyr Tydfil Foster Carers.  
o Co-Occurring Substance Misuse and Mental Health.  

 
7.6 In addition to specific IFST training we have also facilitated 2 training sessions on 
parental substance misuse for foster carers in Merthyr Tydfil. Again, feedback for all training 
has been excellent, with 100% saying they found the training valuable and that they would 
recommend the training.  
 
7.7 Practitioners and students who attend IFST training tell us that one of the skills they 
value the most are "strategies for agenda setting". Agenda setting is a helpful way of having 
a "what matters" conversation, during which families are encouraged and supported to 
identify and address the issues which are most important to them. Practitioners also value 
being reminded to be "led by the client, not trying to fix it". "Allowing service users to find 
solutions" and being reminded to develop "better listening skills". They also tell us of the 
benefit for learning to use "MI when meeting and completing assessments with families".   
 
7.8 In the Cwm Taf IFST we continue to receive regular requests for bespoke training for 
health and social care teams, demonstrating the value that managers and colleagues from 
partner agencies place on the training we deliver.  
 
8. Service Developments.  
 
8.1 WCCIS has now been implemented in Merthyr Tydfil. The system is expected to be 
implemented in Rhondda Cynon Taf in April 2018. Colleagues are now able to record on the 
Merthyr Tydfil system. We're experiencing some challenges with regard to management 
and performance data, whilst we await the development of a manager's dashboard.  
 
Couples work.  

 
8.2 The IFST continue to host a Flying Start Family Therapist, who is able to offer specific 
support to couples experiencing conflict within the relationship. The team benefits greatly 
from advice and support from this colleague, but further work is needed to maximise the 
benefit of their expertise for IFST families and colleagues. 
 

Page 52



 

15 

 

Substance Misuse and Pregnancy Pathway.  
 
8.3 In the 2016-17 annual report, we highlighted the need to encourage social workers to 
refer expectant mothers to the IFST at the earliest opportunity, giving them the best chance 
to make changes to their lifestyles to produce better outcomes for children.   Work 
undertaken by the health intervention specialist helped increase the numbers of early 
referrals into the team. This enabled us to assess and support expectant mothers earlier. 
Although there is currently no health visitor within the team, we are still able to offer early 
help when expectant mothers are referred, and we hope to appoint a new health visitor 
early into 2018-19. 

 
Domestic Violence.  
 
8.4 The previous annual report identified the developments the team have made in working 
with families affected by inter-parental conflict, domestic abuse and domestic violence. In 
the report we identified benefits of undertaking primary research with Cardiff University to 
look into developing the IFST model in this area.  
There were some challenges faced when the research was originally commissioned, in part 
due to the staff shortages. These issues have now been addressed and the project is set to 
recommence in May 2018.  
    
  
9. PRIORITIES FOR THE NEXT TWELVE MONTHS: 
 
9.1 Recruit to the vacant health visiting post and set a clear direction for the shape of the 
team in 2018-19.   
 
9.2 Establish the team in the new base at Glyncornel, creating a secure base for the team to 
feel happy, settled and productive.   
 
9.3 Implement WCCIS in Rhondda Cynon Taf and develop manager's dashboards across 
Cwm Taf to provide accurate comparative data, enabling us to maximise capacity whilst 
maintaining the delivery of high quality interventions.  
 
9.4 Develop the referral/allocation system to help identify and prioritise referrals into the 
team.   
 
10. Expenditure.  
 
10.1 Appendix A provides a breakdown of IFST costs for 2017-18.  As can be seen, there was 
a slight over spend of £473. In recent years office accommodation has accounted for a 
significant portion of the budget, however the planned move to Glyncornel should reduce 
some of the accommodation associated budget pressures.   
 
 
 
 

Page 53



 

16 

 

11. Conclusion.  
 

11.1The Cwm Taf IFST is an experienced multi disciplinary team, which continues to deliver 
high quality evidence based interventions to vulnerable families with complex needs.   
 
11.2 2017-18 has been a challenging year for the IFST where demand for the service has 
continued to grow. At the beginning of 2018-19 a smaller staff team will require us to be 
more efficient in identifying which families would most benefit from our support.  
 
11.3 The implementation of WCCIS across Cwm Taf and the creation of a manager 
dashboard should support the Team Performance and Development Manager to monitor 
and develop performance.  
 
11.4. New ways of managing referrals into the team present an opportunity to maximise 
capacity and ensure that we get the right service to the right families at the right time.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



 

17 

 

Appendix A.  

Integrated Family Support Service (IFSS) - Project Costs 2017/18 
 

  
 

  

  FTE's 

Full Year 
Annual 
Budget 

Full Year 
Projections 
as at Qtr 4 

Variance 

£ £ £ 

Expenditure         
          
Performance & Development Manager 1.00 53,340 53,252 (88) 
Senior Practitioner - Intervention 
Specialist 3.00 

148,590 148,138 (452) 

Consultant Social Worker 1.00 53,340 53,252 (88) 
Reviewing Officer Support 0.50 24,700 24,684 (16) 
Administration Support Officer 1.00 27,420 26,470 (950) 
Office Accommodation   93,100 93,775 675 
Travel Costs   8,010 9,440 1,430 
Office Costs & Training   7,500 5,668 (1,832) 
NHS Staffing 3.00 144,000 145,794 1,794 
Departmental Admin Charges   0 0 0 
          

Total Expenditure   560,000 560,473 473 

          
Additional Income         
    0 0 0 
          

Total Income   0 0 0 

          

Net Cost of Integrated Family Support 
Service / Contribution required from 
Party Members   

560,000 560,473 473 

  
 

  Summary of Member Contributions 
    

     

Local Authority 
Budgeted Annual 
Charge 2017/18 

  £ 
  Rhondda Cynon Taff 280,000 
  Merthyr Tydfil 280,000 
  Total 560,000 
  

  
  

 Balance Carried Forward % Total 
  

Rhondda Cynon Taff 80% (378) 
 

 Merthyr Tydfil 20% (95) 
 

 Total 100% (473) 
 

 
  

  
 

  
  

 

Page 55



 

18 

 

Signed (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC)         

  
  

 
  

  
 Designation (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC)         

  
  

 
  

  
 Date (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC)         

  
  

 
  

  
 

  
  

 Signed (Merthyr Tydfil CBC)         

  
  

 
  

  
 Designation (Merthyr Tydfil CBC)         

  
  

 
  

  
 Date (Merthyr Tydfil CBC)         

     
     
     
     
     
     
      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 56



 

19 

 

Appendix B.  Case studies.  
 
Case Study 1. 
 
Background to the referral (Names have been changed).  
 
The smith family were referred to the IFST in December 2017. The family; Julie (Mother) and 
Tristan (Father) had 3 children; Michael, aged 14 years old, Lucy, 12 years old and Eddie, 6 
years old. The referral from Merthyr Children's Services, highlighted concerns about the 
parent's drug and alcohol misuse and the negative impact of this on their relationship. Julie 
drank heavily and Tristan misused cannabis. Whilst under the influence of substances they 
would regularly fight and argue, placing the children at risk of emotional and physical harm.   
The referral also highlighted concerns that Julie had attended the children's school under 
the influence of alcohol and that on several occasions she had failed to collect her children.  
 
The IFST began working with the family shortly after receiving the referral. At this point the 
children were living with relative carers and the local authority had entered the Public Law 
Outline (PLO) process.  
 
IFST involvement 
 
The referral to the IFST acted as a catalyst for Julie to begin to make changes. She engaged 
well with her IFST worker and worked hard to reduce and then cease her alcohol use.   
Shortly after the work began, Julie and Tristan decided to end their relationship. Tristan 
began a relationship with another partner and disengaged from the whole child protection 
process. Tristan was offered support from the IFST which he declined. The IFST worker was 
able to invest their time and energy into supporting Julie and the children.  
 
Following the IFST initial assessment, the worker and Julie completed strengths based work 
including relapse prevention (work designed to help people maintain change over a longer 
period), healthy and unhealthy relationships and building her own resilience and emotional 
wellbeing. Work was also undertaken with the children to explore their wishes and feelings, 
as well as work to support, observe and promote positive relationships between Julie and 
her children.  
 
Throughout the intervention, the IFST practitioner worked closely with the family, the social 
worker and other professionals to manage risk by creating a safety plan; to build strengths 
through strengths and value cards, and to support the reunification of the children back to 
Julie.  
 
Outcome 
 
6 months after the start of the Intervention and the beginning of the PLO process, the 
children remained with Julie who made sustained changes.  The PLO process ended and 
subsequently the children’s names were removed from the Child Protection register, prior 
to being closed to children services.  
 

Page 57



 

20 

 

Appendix C. 
 
Service User Feedback.  
 
In the IFST we feel that the people best placed to judge the quality of our service, are the 
families we support. We ask all families who work with the team to complete service 
evaluations to help us learn and improve. 
 
Below are some comments taken from cards and letters that practitioners have received 
from families.   
 
The worker was "absolutely amazing... really helped with coping mechanisms like the traffic 
lights".  
 
Thank you so much for helping me out when I needed it the most. You are absolutely 
amazing and clearly the best at your job.  
 
I know that I "Clicked" a bit late, but when I did, everything you have been telling me just 
came back to me, exactly when I needed it. You are truly amazing, thank you so so much, I 
wouldn’t be where I am without your help.  

 
We send all families who have worked with the team evaluation forms.  We speak with those 
who want to share their story.  
 
In the IFST we work hard to listen to families with a "constructive ear", meaning that we listen for 
both strengths and risks. Families who are referred to the team are often experiencing multiple 
adversities and feel under great stress.  They often find it difficult to recognise their own 
strengths.  Our practitioners work hard to help families deepen their own self awareness, whilst 
engendering hope of how their lives could be different, recognising the strengths and qualities 
they bring.  
 
What USEFUL things did your family work on with your IFST worker?  

 
They made me realise the value of my wife and family.  
 
They highlighted the positives which I was unaware of previously. 
 
(They... name of worker) worked through our relationship, we found it so helpful as previously we 
felt our relationship was coming to an end.  
 
Improving communication and understanding.  
 
Relapse, change cycle, relationships, choices, values, domestic violence, 3 D's, strengths.  
 
Living calmer and being able to work more as a family. 
 

Page 58



 

21 

 

Throughout our discussions (workers name) has helped me to stop, think and listen. She has also 
been a very positive influence in times of need. 
 
Re- lapse prevention which will help in the future, the difference in healthy/unhealthy 
relationships. 
 
 
What were the most MEMORABLE things your worker did with your family 
 
Making my wife and myself realise how important we were to each other. 

 
Strength Cards. 
 
Made us cry, made us laugh and made us understand each other more.  
 
Listen to what we had to say and what we wanted. 
 
She made me feel there is light at the end of the tunnel and made me see my long term decisions 
more appropriate for myself and children. 
 
 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Adult Social Care Strategies 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report has been brought to Scrutiny Committee as part of the ongoing 

work with adult social services and its future development with a strategic 
viewpoint.  The report explains the journey to date and provides the current 
position and next steps in developing the service 

 
1.2 This is an update report for the ongoing strategic work in adult social care. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1      The judgements and evaluation are noted and debated. 
 

 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
3.1 Under the Social Services and Well-being Act (Wales) 2014 and the Well-

being of Future Generations Act there was a need to look at and update the 
strategic goals of the Social Services.  
 

3.2 A Strategy on a page was produced by the chief officer of social services and 
then further strategies were developed by each part of the service to 
compliment and show how their part of the service meets the strategic goals.  
 

3.3 The Strategy on a page is an evolving document with elements of the strategy 
spanning several years. 

Date Written 26th November 

Report Author Mark Anderton 

Service Area Adult Social Services  

Committee Date 4th December  2018 

Page 61

Agenda Item 5



 
 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 Prior to the development of a Strategy on a Page service developments were 

outlined in business plans for each service area with an overarching plan for 
Adult Social Care. 

 
4.2 In order to focus the strategic priorities in the latter part of 2015 a single 

strategy on a page was developed. 
 
4.3 The current Strategy on a Page was  reviewed in January 2018 to reflect the 

revised strategic position and developments for Adult Social Care. 

 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 The overall performance indicators will be reported at the end of the year as 

considerable work is required to develop the reporting mechanisms in WCCIS 

 

5.2 Update of the strategic Aim1– improve performance within Adult 

 The review of day services has been completed and the areas of 

redesign have been identified. The proposed redevelopment of the day 

services for people with dementia is linked with the wider Valley Life 

initiative which will be covered under Aim 3 

 WCCIS has been operational for a year and work is ongoing to 

implement the updated reporting functions within the system and there is 

a work program in place to revise the various forms within the system to 

improve their usability for practitioners.  

 

5.3 Update of the strategic Aim 2 – Ensure effective early intervention and 

prevention arrangements are in place. 

 Formal evaluation of the Stay Well @ Home (SW@H) services have 

been completed that identified that the combined services were effective 

in meeting the overall outcomes of the service. The services also 

received recognition winning two health care awards for Integration and 

Prudent Health Care. Regional work has commenced to enhance these 

services further utilising the regional Transformation Fund with the 

intention that the accessibility to community elements of the SW@H 

service will be improved. 

 A review of the GP support officers role has been completed and 

consideration is being given to how this role will be integrated into the 

wider community based developments being taken forward across Cwm 

Taf on a cluster basis. 

 

Page 62



5.4 Update of the strategic Aim 3 – Continue to enhance regional partnership 

working and manage the demand for services. 

 The Valley Life initiative continues to progress, however the initial plan 

for Merthyr of the development of a separate wellbeing hub on the Keir 

Hardie site has required revision following the site being unsuitable to 

develop the wider range of accommodation for people with dementia as 

part of phase 2. Alternative plans incorporating re-design of the day 

services facilities at Keir Hardie Health Park and the development of an 

extra care facility are being explored and capital is being sourced. 

 An initial review of services funded through the Integrated Care Fund 

has taken place and recommendations are being made to the 

Transformational Leadership Group prior to submission to the Regional 

Partnership Board. 

 Further work is being undertaken regionally following the allocation of 

the Regional Transformation Fund and a regional position for 

development has been drafted and approved by Welsh Government. 

Working groups have been established to implement the development 

though are at a formative stage. 

 

5.5 Update of the strategic Aim 4 – Ensure quality of data capture for performance 

and quality is timely and accurate in accordance with new guidelines. 

 All directly delivered services submitted their re-registration 

documentation and are awaiting the evaluation of the submissions by 

CIW. 

 The social care workforce review has been supported by Social Care 

Wales and a regional plan has been devised to attract people to work 

within the social care sector. In addition to the wider social care 

workforce developments specific working groups have been focussing 

on recruitment within the domiciliary care sector.  

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 It is the intention that Adult Social Care continues to support people to have a 

voice and control over their lives and live in healthy and supportive resilient 
communities.  

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Whilst the strategy on a page indicates the key areas of work within Adult 

Social Care for the coming year these continue to be reviewed and revised to 
incorporate changing Welsh Government guidance and operational 
requirements. 

 
8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

Page 63



8.1 The projects within the MTCBC Change Programme will all be assessed 
against the Wellbeing Objectives as part of the business case development.  
The 5 ways of working will be assessed as part of service delivery options 
going forward.  Changes will be assessed against the integrated impact 
assessment.  

 

 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

Page 64



 

P
age 65



 

P
age 66



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2018/19 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind scrutiny committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached work programme and approves, revises or 
amends it as deemed appropriate.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

 

Date Written 23rd November  2018 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 4th December  2018 

Page 67

Agenda Item 6



3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 
help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals. The key outcomes (or components) for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination. The key outcomes (or components) to support the 
response to this objective include:  
 

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the future;  

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish;  

 Communities protect, enhance and promote our heritage and cultural assets;  

 Developing safer communities; and  

 Supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the housing market. 
 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside. The key outcomes (or components) for communities to 
protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside include:  
 

 Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution;  

 Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste 
hierarchy;  

 Developing good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and open 
spaces; and  

 Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy. 
 
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. To 
ensure a holistic approach is met in this objective, the key outcomes (or 
components) for Living Well will include:  
 

 Safeguarding children and adults who are at risk of harm;  

 Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community Resilience;  

 Promoting healthy behaviours and increased levels of physical activity;  

 Promote good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health;  

 Clear and accessible information and advice; and  

 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home 
 

 
 
 

Page 68



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme? 
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Wellbeing 

Objectives and priorities? 
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue  

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue 
 

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 

Page 69



e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 
pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations? 
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 
 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 

consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 
b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 
c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 

to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 
e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 
f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 
g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 

calls for evidence). 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 

Page 70



 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 

 

APPENDIX I 

Page 72



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

12th June 2018 

Annual Work Programme Social Services Scrutiny 
Committee 

To consider and approve the Work Programme for 2018 / 2019 

WCCIS  end of year 
performance update 

Anne Powell / Mark Anderton 
/ Annabel Lloyd 
 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  Summary report – providing a position statement on 
performance reporting developments, reporting timetable and share year 
end data for 2017 / 2018. 
 

Care Inspectorate Wales 
(CIW) Inspection – verbal 
update on feedback 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  CIW verbal update on findings from inspection of 
Children’s Social Services in April / May 2018. 
 
Once final report is available it will be made available to the scrutiny 
committee. 

Barod.Cymru (formerly  
Drugaid)   
  

Sian prior / Rob Parker / Steve 
Peters ?/Lisa Curtis-Jones  
 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To receive a presentation from Drugaid on the work 
that they are doing. 

24th July 2018 

Review of residential Services 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  / Mark 
Anderton  / Lowri Morgan 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A review of Residential Care Services is currently 
underway.   Scrutiny to be provided with background information and 
findings to date. 
 
 

Update on Regional Strategies Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr Dave 
Hughes 

Provision of an update on regional partnership business.  Update will include 
the following topics:  Carers Strategy; Learning Disability Strategy;  Older 
Persons Strategy and Pooled Budgets. 
 

ACRF – Annual Report on 
Social Services 2017 / 2018 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr Dave 
Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following a consultation workshop with Scrutiny 
Members; a report summarising key messages from the Annual Report on 
Social Services 2017 / 2018 will be presented for information. 
 
The Annual Report on Social Services will undergo consultation between 4th 
and 15th June 2018.  Following this period of consultation, feedback received 
will be used to help shape and finalise the final report; which will be 
submitted to Welsh Government by 30th June 2018.   
 

P
age 73



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Adult Services Strategy 
Update (7) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  / Mark 
Anderton   

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Adult Services will provide an update on 
the ongoing strategic work within adult social services and next steps. 
 

Cwm Taf Youth Offending 
Service (YOS) progress update 
(9) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd / Lyndon Lewis (RCTCBC) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  The committee requires a further update on 
progress made in implementation of the post inspection improvement 
action plan. 
 
Previous update received by Social Services Scrutiny Committee on 19th 
September 2018. 
The YOS is a multi-agency team which is made up of members of the Police, 
Probation, Health, Education, Substance Misuse and Social Services; as well 
as other specific to the team.  The YOS deals with young people between the 
ages of 10 and 18 who are involved in the criminal justice system and those 
who are just on the periphery of becoming involved in the system. 
 

 

Care leavers and number of 
Council tax exemptions 
 
This is an action request from 
the Chair of Social Services 
Scrutiny on 12th June 2018 (SS 
Scrutiny). 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide a brief 
report outlining number of care leavers and number of Council tax 
exemptions 

18th September 
2018 

Looked After Children 
Strategy Update (1) 

Annabel Lloyd / Cllr David 
Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - An update on progress implementing the LAC 
Strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges.  The Strategy is 
seeking a reduction in the number of LAC and CPR over the next few years. 
 

Children’s Services Strategy 
Update (8) 

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide an 
update on strategies applicable to Children’s Social Services 
 
 

Children’s and Young People’s 
Plan 
 
As requested by the Chair in 
the 24th July scrutiny. 

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide an 
update on the Children’s and Young People’s Plan. 
 
 

P
age 74



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Budget Update (10) Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr David 
Hughes / Stacey Evans 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Report to be presented to Scrutiny providing an 
update on Social Services budget overall, areas of likely overspend and the 
measures that have been put in place to help reduce any overspend within 
the department.    
 

Community Zones (3) Lisa Curtis-Jones / Chris Hole Scrutiny & Challenge: - Community Zones is a place based approach 
focussing on support to improve outcomes for residents with the greatest 
challenges.  The Committee requires an update i.e. how the zones are 
progressing; what challenges are being faced; and what performance 
indicators have been developed. 
 

23rd October 2018 

CTSCB / CTSAB Annual 
Reports (2) 

Nicola Kingham and officers / 
Alex Beckham / Cllr David 
Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - These separate reports summarises the work 
undertaken by the CTSCB and the CTSAB to achieve its objectives during the 
year.  They also summarise the areas of development identified. 
 
Cwm Taf Safeguarding Children Board (CTSCB) 
Cwm Taf Safeguarding Adults Board (CTSAB) 
 
 

Children’s Services Inspection 
 
This is an action request from 
the Chair of Social Services at 
Scrutiny on 18th September 
2018 (SS Scrutiny). 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To provide  a summary of the strengths and 
development areas highlighted in the recent Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 
Children’s Services Inspection Report 

ACRF – Annual Report on 
Social Services 2017 / 2018 
 
This report was postponed 
from 24th July 2018 Scrutiny. 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr Dave 
Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following a consultation workshop with Scrutiny 
Members; a report summarising key messages from the Annual Report on 
Social Services 2017 / 2018 will be presented for information. 
 

Early Years Learning 
This is has been deleted as the 
report will be presented at 
Learning and LAESCYP 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Chris Hole / 
Cllr David Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Scrutiny to receive a report on progress. 
 

P
age 75



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Scrutiny in January 2019. 
(Agreed by Chair and 
members in 23rd Oct Scrutiny.)  
 

Corporate Parenting Update 
This report will not be 
available until December 
therefore will go to January 
Scrutiny. (Agreed by Chair and 
members in 23rd Oct Scrutiny.) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  To provide data and performance in relation to 
Corporate Parenting 
 

4th December 
2018 

Vale, Valleys And Cardiff 
Adoption Collaborative (VVC) 
- Annual Report For 1 April 
2017 To 31 March 2018 

Annabel Lloyd / Angela Harris 
and Rachel Evans (Vale of 
Glamorgan) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To provide an update on performance in relation to 
our regional adoption collaborative. 
 

Cwm Taf Integrated Family 
Support Team (IFST) Annual 
Report (6) 

Annabel Lloyd / Jay Goulding 
(RCT) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Annual Report on progress within the Cwm Taf IFST 
and the wider implementation. 
 
 

Adult Services Strategy 
Update (7) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  / Mark 
Anderton   

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Adult Services will provide an update on 
the ongoing strategic work within adult social services and next steps. 
 

Budget Update  
 
This is an action request from 
the Chair of Social Services 
Scrutiny on 18th September 
2018 (SS Scrutiny). 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr David 
Hughes / Stacey Evans 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Report to be presented to Scrutiny providing an 
update on Social Services budget for Quarter 1 and Quarter 2, areas of likely 
overspend and the measures that have been put in place to help reduce any 
overspend within the department.    
 

22nd January 2019 

Violence against Women 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Updates 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  / Annabel 
Lloyd / Cllr David Hughes / 
Deborah Evans (SMT) / Steve 
Peters 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Meeting to receive an update on progress in relation 
to the strategy and action plan. 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is a member of the Cwm Taf Violence 
Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) Steering 
Group, which is the lead partnership taking forward the Cwm Taf regions 
implementation of the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

P
age 76



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Violence (Wales) Act 2015. 

Tackling Poverty Chris Hole Scrutiny & Challenge: - Looking at the funding flexibilities and the work 
being completed around tackling poverty. 

Corporate Parenting Update 
This has been rescheduled 
from 23rd October 2018 Social 
Services Scrutiny as the data is 
not available until December 
2018. (Agreed by Chair and 
members in 23rd Oct Scrutiny.) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  To provide data and performance in relation to 
Corporate Parenting 
 

12th March 2019 

Annual Report - Social 
Services Complaints, 
Representations and 
Compliments 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Jonathan 
Strong / Cllr David Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  Local Authorities are required to the Social Services 
Complaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 and the Representations 
Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 to produce an Annual Report about the 
operation of their Social Services Complaints, Representations and 
Compliments Policy and Procedures. 

Children’s Services Strategy 
Update (8) 

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide an 
update on strategies applicable to Children’s Social Services 
 

 

Children’s Services Inspection 
Update  
 
This is an action request from 
the Chair of Social Services at 
Scrutiny on 23rd October 2018 
(SS Scrutiny). 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To provide  an update of the action plan formulated 
as a result of the recent Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 
Children’s Services Inspection Report. 

23rd April 2019 

ACRF – Draft Annual Report 
on Social Services 2018 / 2019 
Consultation 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Mark 
Anderton / Anne Powell 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  Scrutiny to provide comment and challenge in 
relation to the Draft Annual Report on Social Services 2018 / 2019. 
 
Note:  It is likely that consultation with Scrutiny will take place in the form of 
a workshop and the final report presented for information in July 2019. 

P
age 77



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 

CTSCB / CTSAB Annual 
Reports (2) 

Nicola Kingham and officers / 
Alex Beckham / Cllr David 
Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - These separate reports summarises the work 
undertaken by the CTSCB and the CTSAB to achieve its objectives during the 
year.  They also summarise the areas of development identified. 
 
Cwm Taf Safeguarding Children Board (CTSCB) 
Cwm Taf Safeguarding Adults Board (CTSAB) 
 

 
Additional items to consider for Work 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Valleys Life Update on plans and progress (Howard – this is the project Mark made reference to). 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Adult Day Service 
Provision 

Update on the review and re-design of Adult Day Service provision (again, referenced by Mark) 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Presentation: 
Setting the Scene - 
Children Looked After 
& Carer Leavers: 
 
Education/Social 
services 
Lisa Curtis-Jones 
Sue Walker 
Annabel Lloyd 
Sarah Bowen 
Sarah Skuse 
Jessica jones 

Joint meeting with Learning & LAESCYP to discuss :- 
 

 The Story in Merthyr Tydfil  Corporate Parenting responsibilities, SSWB / Children Act duties, Number of 
CLA, Placements etc . 

 Education overview re CLA – Education and LACES 
 
Agenda for Joint Scrutiny –Education and Social Services. June 2018 
 
1. Presentation: 
Setting the Scene - Children Looked After & Carer Leavers: 

 The Story in Merthyr Tydfil  Corporate Parenting responsibilities, SSWB / Children Act duties, Number of 
CLA, Placements etc . 

 Education overview re CLA – Education and LACES 
 
2. Questions on presentation from Scrutiny members 
 
3. Report: 

P
age 78



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

 What is the data telling us?  2015/16 National and local dataset  as per Stat Wales / PI’s  

 Reminder of our current performance for CLA at all Key stages (where this is available)? 

 What is the range of support offered to our Children Looked After? (including What is the LEA doing to 
directly support schools and school staff (teaching / non teaching) and governing bodies to assist CLA 
learners?) 

 Provide an update on the Pupil Development Grant and how it is being used to benefit Merthyr Tydfil 
Children Looked After . 

 What are the challenges facing the Authority in supporting our Children Looked After? 

 The challenge to All ….    What more can and should we be doing to improve wellbeing outcomes and raise 
educational standards for Merthyr Tydfil Children Looked After?!  
 

4. Questions on report from Scrutiny members 
 

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC) Annual Report for 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	4 Cwm Taff Integrated Family Support Team annual report 2017-2018
	Appendix 1

	5 Adult Social Care Strategies
	6 Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2018/19
	Appendix 1


